0A 3.4.93



NOV 18 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO: 79,828

WAGNER, NUGENT, JOHNSON, ROTH, ROMANO, ERIKSEN & KUPFER, P.A., etc., et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

JOHN H. FLANAGAN, JR.,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON MERITS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The following facts are all found in the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal:

JFK Medical Center, Inc., a hospital, was in the process of investigating fraud by some of its directors. During the course of this investigation, JFK's lawyer sent the following letter to the in-house counsel for its insurer:

> The documents indicate a minimum loss in the years 1984-1987 of approximately \$2,000,000. This, however, does not include losses occurring in the construction fraud. . . In order to finalize this figure, we will probably have to subpoena records from John Flanagan, the contractor. [T]his part of the loss will approximate \$10,000,000. We do not believe these losses were a part of the conspiracy, but rather were a separate fraud by John Flanagan and other individuals in the hospital.

Although this letter was dated February 24, 1988, plaintiff, John Flanagan, did not learn of this letter until November, 1988. Flanagan filed a complaint for defamation against the lawyer who wrote the letter, his law firm, and JFK, on October 31, 1990, more than two years after publication of the letter, but less than two years after plaintiff discovered it.

The trial court dismissed the complaint for failure to state a cause of action because the claim was barred by the two year statute of limitations provided in Section 95.11(4)(g), Florida Statutes. The Fourth District reversed, holding, for the first time in Florida, that a cause of action for defamation does not accrue at the time of publication, but rather when plaintiff discovers the defamation.

Although the Fourth District did not certify conflict, it did state on page 3 of its opinion:

Appellees argue, and the trial court held, that the last element occurs upon publication. The case relied upon for this proposition held that a "[c]ause of action in slander accrues at the time of the alleged publication." <u>Gallizzi v. Williams</u>, 218 So.2d 499, 500 (Fla. 2d DCA 1969). <u>See also Franklin Life Ins. Co.</u> <u>v. Tharpe</u>, 131 Fla. 213, 179 So. 406 (1938); <u>Houston v. Florida Georgia Television Co.</u>, 192 So.2d 540 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966).

This court has granted review based on conflict.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District held in the present case, that a cause of action for defamation does not accrue at the time of publication, but rather when it is discovered by plaintiff. Section 770.07, Florida Statutes (1988), provides:

> The cause of action for damages founded upon a single publication or exhibition or utterance, as described in s.770.05, shall be deemed to have accrued at the time of the first publication or exhibition or utterance thereof in this state.

The opinion of the Fourth District is not only contrary to the above statute, but is also in conflict with <u>Gallizzi v. Williams</u>, 218 So.2d 499 (Fla. 2d DCA 1969). It is also contrary to <u>Houston v. Florida-Georgia Television Co.</u>, 192 So.2d 540 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966), in which the First District held that a cause of action for invasion of privacy accrues at the time of publication. The opinion of the Fourth District is contrary to Florida's statutes and case law, and should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

DOES A CAUSE OF ACTION FOR DEFAMATION ACCRUE AT THE TIME OF PUBLICATION OR WHEN THE DEFAMATION IS DISCOVERED?

Chapter 770, Florida Statutes, is entitled "Civil Actions for Libel". Section 770.07, Florida Statutes, (1988) provides:

The cause of action for damages founded upon a single publication or exhibition or

utterance, as described in s.770.05, shall be deemed to have accrued at the time of the first publication or exhibition or utterance thereof in this state.

Section 770.5, Florida Statutes (1988), referred to above,

provides:

No person shall have more than one choice for venue for damages for libel or slander, invasion of privacy, or any other tort founded upon any single publication, exhibition, or utterance, such as any one edition of a newspaper, book, or magazine, or any one presentation to an audience, any one broadcast over radio or television, or any one exhibition of a motion picture. Recovery in any action shall include all damages for any such tort suffered by the plaintiff in all jurisdictions.

This court has recognized the above statute as defining when a cause of action for libel accrues. <u>Perdue v. Miami Herald Pub.</u> <u>Co.</u>, 291 So.2d 604 (Fla. 1974). The application of the discovery rule to defamation is clearly contrary to this statute.¹

In <u>Gallizzi v. Williams</u>, 218 So.2d 499 (Fla. 2d DCA 1969), the Second District stated on pages 499 and 500:

> It appears from the record that the suit was barred by the statute of limitations. Florida Statutes § 95.11(6), F.S.A. requires that an action for slander must be brought within two years from the date the cause of action accrued. Cause of action in slander accrues at the time of the alleged publication.

^{&#}x27; Section 770.07, Florida Statutes (1988), was not argued in the briefs filed in the Fourth District in this case; however, it was relied on in petitioners' motion for rehearing.

In <u>Houston v. Florida-Georgia Television Co.</u>, 192 So.2d 540 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966), the defendant television station broadcast a story about plaintiffs on November 3, 1960. Plaintiffs alleged that they were not aware of the broadcast until June 10, 1961. They filed their complaint for invasion of privacy on May 15, 1965, which was more than four years (the period of limitations for invasion of privacy) after the publication. In holding that the cause of action accrued at the time of publication, not when plaintiffs discovered the invasion of their legal rights, the First District stated on page 543:

> In support of their position in this appeal, the appellees have cited to us several cases involving libel and slander from other jurisdictions, which types of action, we agree, are closely analogizable to the cause of action involved in the instant appeal--"publication" by television so to speak. One of the best of such cases is the decision of the Supreme Court of Mississippi in Forman v. Mississippi Publishers Corp., 195 Miss. 90, 14 So.2d 344, 148 A.L.R. 469, an action of libel, in which that court said:

> > "There seems to be no doubt that the statute of limitations begins to run from the date of the first publication * * * Since the gravamen of the offense is not the knowledge by the plaintiff nor the injury to his feelings but the degrading of reputation, the right accrued as soon as the paper was exhibited to third persons in whom alone such repute is resident."

Although the Fourth District acknowledged the contrary cases set forth above, it decided that it should apply this court's reasoning in <u>Creviston v. General Motors Corp.</u>, 225 So.2d 331 (Fla.

1969), a products liability case, to this defamation case. There are several reasons why the discovery rule announced in <u>Creviston</u> should not be broadened to apply to defamation.

The Fourth District's application of the rationale of <u>Creviston</u>, a products liability case, to defamation cases, is contrary to the intent of our legislature, as reflected by Section 770.07, Florida Statutes (1988). Legislative intent is significant in construing statutes of limitations. <u>Foley v. Morris</u>, 339 So.2d 215 (Fla. 1976).

Although Section 770.07, Florida Statutes (1988), should answer the issue of when an action for defamation accrues, in and of itself, other provisions in Chapter 95 also support the conclusion that the discovery rule does not apply to defamation.

Section 95.031(1), Florida Statutes (1988), provides that "a cause of action accrues when the last element constituting the cause of action occurs". Section 95.031 was enacted by the legislature in 1974. Chapter 74-382, Laws of Florida. Thus, when this Court decided <u>Creviston</u> in 1969, there was no statute which spelled out when a cause of action accrues. When the legislature enacted Section 95.031 in 1974, it made exceptions in Section 95.031(3) for actions for products liability and fraud, and in Section 95.11 for actions founded on the design, planning or construction of improvements to real property and professional

malpractice. The legislature specifically provided that in those actions the time runs from when plaintiff discovered or should have discovered the existence of the cause of action. It made no such provision for defamation or other causes of action.

The opinion of the Fourth District ignores the wellestablished principle of <u>expressio</u> <u>unius</u> <u>est</u> <u>exclusio</u> <u>alterius</u>. As the Fourth District stated in applying that principle in <u>Biddle</u> <u>v. State Beverage Dept.</u>, 187 So.2d 65 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>cert.</u> <u>dismissed</u>, 194 So.2d 623 (Fla. 1966), on page 67:

> More precisely, express exceptions made in a statute give rise to a strong inference that no other exceptions were intended. <u>Williams v. American Surety Company of New</u> <u>Yerk</u>, Fla. App. 1958, 99 So.2d 877; see <u>Knapczyk v. Ribicoff</u>, 1962, N.D. Ill., 201 F.Supp. 283; <u>C.I.T. Corporation v. Biltmore</u> <u>Garage</u>, 1934, 3 Cal.App.2d Supp. 757, 36 P.2d 247; <u>People ex rel. City of Downey v. Downey</u> <u>County Water District</u>, 1962, 202 Cal.App.2d 786 21 Cal.Rptr. 370; see also 30 Fla.Jur. Statutes §129; 82 C.J.S. Statutes §§ 316, 328.

When this Court decided <u>Creviston</u> in 1968, and adopted the "discovery rule" in products liability cases, it changed the common law. The "discovery rule" was not contained in any of our statutes of limitations, nor did our statutes specifically spell out when a cause of action accrues. The Fourth District's application of the <u>Creviston</u> rationale (promulgated in 1968) <u>after</u> the legislature specifically spelled out when a cause of action accrues in 1974, is contrary to the well-established principle that statutes control

and take precedence over the common law where there are inconsistencies between them. <u>Matthews v. McCain</u>, 125 Fla. 840, 170 So. 323, 327 (1936).

Another reason why the Fourth District should not have applied <u>Creviston</u> is found in this court's statement in <u>Creviston</u> on page 334:

> Our holding is limited solely to the matter of the commencement of the running of the three years statute of limitations in the factual posture of this case and is not otherwise extended.

It is well-settled within Florida that in order to maintain an action for libel, a plaintiff who is not a public official must prove that (1) a false and defamatory statement (2) concerning the plaintiff (3) was published (4) to a third person (5) without reasonable care as to the truth or falsity of the statement, (6) resulting in damage to the plaintiff. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u> <u>Hay v. Independent</u> <u>Newspapers, Inc.</u>, 450 So.2d 293, 294-295 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984).

Clearly all of the elements necessary to maintain a cause of action for libel occurred when publication was made on February 24, 1988. It is axiomatic that damage to the plaintiff occurs upon publication of the libelous statement to third persons, rather than upon discovery of the libel by the plaintiff. Defamation is an invasion of the interest in reputation and good name. Prosser, §111 The Law of Torts 737 (4th Ed. 1971). Defamation is not

concerned with the plaintiff's own humiliation; rather, it involves the opinions which <u>others</u> in the community may have, or tend to have, of the plaintiff. <u>Id.</u> The First DCA has stated that:

the gravamen of the [libel] offense is not the knowledge by the plaintiff nor the injury to his feelings[,] but the degrading of reputation...

Houston v. Florida-Georgia Television Co., 192 So.2d 540, 543 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966).

Since defamation is a tort involving injury to the plaintiff's reputation rather than to his psyche (which is the case with the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress), the <u>damage</u> to the plaintiff in a libel action is done the instant the libelous <u>matter is communicated to a third party</u>. It is at the time of initial publication that the plaintiff will first start to feel the effects of the libelous statement.

Since damage to the plaintiff's reputation inures the instant a third person views the libelous statement, the tort of libel is complete upon publication and the statute of limitations should start to run precisely at that moment. The plaintiff's knowledge (or lack thereof) of the allegedly libelous statement is not a required element of the tort, and thus should not be of any consequence in determining when the statute of limitations should start to run. <u>See Tyler v. Garris</u>, 292 So.2d 427, 429 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974) (libelous statement does not have to be published to the

plaintiff); <u>Granda-Centeno v. Lara</u>, 489 So.2d 142, 143 n.2 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986).

Cases from other jurisdictions are divided on application of the discovery rule to defamation cases. They are collected at Annot., <u>Limitation of Action Time of Discovery of Defamation as</u> <u>Determining Accrual of Action</u>, 35 A.L.R. 4th 1002 (1985). The cases in other jurisdictions applying the discovery rule to defamation actions will undoubtedly be cited by the respondents; however, those cases are not persuasive because the states which have adopted the discovery rule do not have a specific statute similar to Section 770.07, Florida Statutes, which spells out that a cause of action for defamation accrues at the time of publication.

In Lawrence v. Bauer Pub. & Printing Ltd., 78 N.J. 371, 396 A.2d 569 (1979), a libel action, plaintiff was making the same argument plaintiffs makes here, that the discovery rule should apply. In rejecting this argument because of the specificity of the New Jersey statute of limitations applicable to defamation, the court stated on pages 571:

> The so-called "discovery rule" is a doctrine that has been developed by this court, and courts in other jurisdictions, to deal with the sometimes harsh results that would ensue were causes of action deemed to accrue at the moment an alleged wrongful act is committed.

* * *

Plaintiffs' reliance upon this doctrine in the present litigation setting is wholly misplaced. The discovery rule derives from this Court's interpretation of the language of N.J.S.A. 2A:14-2 the statute of limitations applicable to personal injury suits. That statute provides that an action for damages must be commenced within two years after "the cause of . . action shall have accrued." Due to the absence of any legislative specification as to the precise time when a claim accrues," our courts, in the exercise of their judicial function, have developed a rule which best serves the interests of justice....

The statute of limitations applicable to the present suit, however, does not measure the limitations period in terms of the "accrual" of a cause of action. Instead, it provides that an action must be brought within one year of "the publication" of the alleged libel. The Legislature has therefore fixed a precise date on which the limitations period begins to run. Once the date of publication is determined, there is no need for further judicial interpretation. Hence, the discovery rule is inapplicable to libel actions.

In Florida, the Legislature has specifically provided that a cause of action for libel or slander "shall be deemed to have accrued at the time of the first publication...". §770.07, Fla. Stat. (1988). Although the discovery rule has been adopted by our Legislature for some causes of action, it has not been done for libel and slander.

CONCLUSION

The opinion of the Fourth District should be reversed and the summary judgment entered by the trial court reinstated.

MERSHON, SAWYER, JOHNSTON, DUNWOODY & COLE 777 South Flagler Drive Suite 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 659-5990 and WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY 839 17th Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20006 (202) 331-5000 and PETERSON & BERNARD P.O. Drawer 15700 West Palm Beach, FL 33416 (407) 686-5005 and LARRY KLEIN, and JANE KREUSLER-WALSH, of KLEIN & WALSH, P.A. Suite 503 - Flagler Center 501 South Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 659-5455