CA 3.4.93



DEC **4** 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO. 79,828

## INTRODUCTION

Throughout this Brief, Respondent, Plaintiff below, John H. Flanagan, Jr. will be referred to as "Respondent" or "Flanagan." Petitioner, Al. J. Cone will be referred to as "Cone." Petitioner, Wagner, Nugent, Johnson, Roth, Romano, Eriksen & Kupfer, P.A., formerly known as Cone, Wagner, Nugent, Johnson, Roth & Romano, P.A., will be referred to as "Wagner, Nugent." Finally, Petitioner, JFK Medical Center, Inc., will be referred to as "JFK."

References to Petitioners' Initial Brief on the Merits will be by "PB \_\_".

All emphasis is that of the author, unless otherwise noted.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida Statutes Section 770.07 does not apply to this action, since the Defendants are not members of the media.

The 1974 enactment of Florida Statutes, Section 95.031(1) does not override the reasonable discovery rule approved in <u>Creviston v</u>. <u>General Motors Corp.</u>, 225 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1969). Further, the holding in <u>Creviston</u> is not limited to products liability cases and the notion that the interpretative aid "<u>expressio unius est</u> <u>exclusio alterius</u>" limits the application of the reasonable discovery rule to causes of action specifically enunciated by the legislature has been rejected.

Petitioners' reliance on <u>Houston v. Florida-Georgia Television</u> <u>Co.</u> 192 So.2d 540 (Fla. 1DCA 1966) is misplaced. The court that decided <u>Houston</u> has since receded from that opinion and relied, instead on the reasoning of <u>Creviston</u>. <u>Lund v. Cook</u>, 354 So.2d 940 (Fla. 1DCA 1978).

Even the court that issued the opinion in <u>Gallizzi v.</u> <u>Williams</u>, 218 So.2d 499 (Fla. 2DCA 1969) has recently cited this very case, <u>Flanagan v. Wagner, Nugent</u>, 594 So.2d 776 (Fla. 4DCA 1992), along with <u>Lund</u> and <u>Senfield v. Bank of Nova Scotia</u>, 450 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 3DCA 1984) in applying a discovery rule in a negligence action. <u>Keller v. Reed</u>, 603 So.2d 717 (Fla. 2DCA 1992).

Neither the nature of defamation nor cases from other jurisdictions provide any reason or justification for departing from the reasonable discovery rule.

#### ARGUMENT

Ι

Petitioners assert (PB 3-6) that Florida Statute Section 770.07 controls this action and prohibits the bringing of an action for defamation more than one year after publication of the Plainly, Section 770.07 has absolutely no defamatory matter. application to the facts at bar, in that the statute has repeatedly been held to apply only to defamation actions against the media. The defamation is private, Here the Defendants are non-media. contained within a letter from an attorney to an insurance company, and not within the purview of Chapter 770. The Petitioners in this case are a hospital, its attorneys and the particular attorney within the law firm that wrote the defamatory letter to the hospital's insurance carrier. As the Fourth District recognized, in the very first sentence of its opinion, publication in this case Chapter 770 of the Florida Statutes pertains was **private**. exclusively to media defendants. The Second District, in Bridges v. Williamson, 449 So.2d 400, 401 (Fla. 2DCA 1984), held that: "Chapter 770 does not apply to nonmedia defendants even when alleged defamatory statements made by a nonmedia defendant are republished by the media." In Della-Donna v. Gore Newspaper Company, 463 So.2d 414 (Fla. 4DCA 1985), the Fourth District followed Bridges, as did the Second District in Gifford v. Bruckner, 565 So.2d 887, 888 (Fla. 2DCA 1990). The Third District also reached the same conclusion and refused to apply Chapter 770 to nonmedia defendants in Davies v. Bossert, 449 So.2d 418, 420

(Fla. 3DCA 1984). See also, <u>Corkery v. SuperX Drugs Corporation</u>, 602 Fed. Supp. 42, 46 (M.D. Florida, Tampa Division, 1985).

The case cited by Petitioners, <u>Perdue v. Miami Herald</u> <u>Publishing Company</u>, 291 So.2d 604 (Fla. 1974), involves **public** publication by a media defendant and has no bearing on this case.

By its very nature, defamation by media defendants, is wide spread, where discovery will, or should, closely coincide with publication. Thus, a different rule, such as set forth in F.S. 770.07, makes sense for **media** defendants. However, where, as here, publication is private, and not readily susceptible of discovery, the appropriate rule is the one followed by the District Court. To hold otherwise "would indeed be a harsh rule and prevent relief to an injured party who was without notice during the statutory period of any negligent act that might cause injury." <u>City of Miami v.</u> <u>Brooks</u>, 70 So.2d 306, 309 (Fla. 1954).

#### II

<u>Creviston v. General Motors Corp.</u>, 225 So.2d 331, 334 (Fla. 1969) crystallized the "blameless ignorance" doctrine discussed in <u>City of Miami v. Brooks</u>, 70 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1954), <u>Miami Beach</u> <u>First National Bank v. Edgerly</u>, 121 So.2d 417 (Fla. 1960) and <u>Urie</u> <u>v. Thompson</u>, 337 U.S. 163 (1949) thusly:

> Such a doctrine is merely a recognition of the fundamental principle that **regardless of the underlying nature of a cause of action**, the accrual of the same must coincide with the aggrieved party's **discovery or duty to discover** the act constituting an invasion of his legal rights.

Appellees argue (PB 6-8) that the Fourth District should not have

relied upon <u>Creviston</u> in reversing the trial court, because <u>Creviston</u> preceded the 1974 enactment of F.S. 95.031(1). Yet, in 1975, this Court refused to recede from <u>Creviston</u> when it ruled that the statute of limitations does not begin to run in a breach of warranty case until the breach is discovered, even though the breach occurs when delivery of the warranted item is tendered. <u>AB</u> <u>CTC v. Morejon</u>, 324 So.2d 625, 628 (Fla. 1975). Reliance on <u>Creviston</u> after the enactment of F.S. 95.031 was **expressly approved** in <u>Lund v. Cook</u>, 354 So.2d 940 (Fla. 2DCA 1978), a case decided **after** the enactment of the statute:

> Chapter 74-382, Laws of Florida, did not change this rule though it did provide an overall limitation on its application as to certain specific types of cases. Rather than abrogate the rule, the amendment reinforces it...When we turn to the Supreme Court's ruling in Creviston, we find that the cause of action accrues with the aggrieved party's discovery or duty to discover the act constituting an invasion of his legal rights. We find nothing in the statute that abrogates this ruling in Creviston. 354 So.2d at 942.

To the same end, see <u>Senfield v. Bank of Nova Scotia</u>, 450 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 3DCA 1984), decided after the statute's enactment. <u>Senfield</u> approves of both <u>Lund</u> and <u>Creviston</u>. In <u>Senfield</u> at page 1163, the court **considered and rejected** the same argument Petitioners raise (PB 7) regarding the interpretative aid<sup>1</sup> expressio unius est exclusio alterius.

There [Lund], the court held that the express inclusion of discovery language in the statute

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>It is important to note that the maxim is **not** a rule of law; rather only an aid in interpreting a statute. <u>Smalley</u> <u>Transportation v. Moed's Transfer</u>, 373 So.2d 55 (Fla. 1DCA 1979).

of limitations relating to certain specified causes of action...did not abrogate the rule of <u>Creviston</u>...

The court thus refused to limit application of the discovery rule to only those actions where the statute of limitations expressly provides that the limitations period runs from the time of actual or constructive discovery. The <u>Senfield</u> court declined the opportunity to hold that in all other actions, the period of limitations commences at the time of the occurrence itself. <u>Expressio unius est exclusio alterius</u> does not provide a basis for reversing the Fourth District.

Petitioners rely on <u>Houston v. Florida-Georgia Television</u> <u>Company</u>, 192 So.2d 540 (Fla. 1DCA 1966) as the basis for their assertion (PB 5, 9) that the discovery rule cannot obtain in the absence of an express legislative directive. However, Petitioners' reliance on <u>Houston</u> is misplaced. As the <u>Senfield</u> court wrote (at pages 1162, 1163):

> While <u>Houston</u> certainly supports Senfield's position, reliance upon it as authority is unjustified in light of <u>City of Miami v.</u> <u>Brooks</u>, 70 So.2d 306 and <u>Miami Beach First</u> National Bank v. Edgerly, 121 So.2d 417, and, a fortiori, in light of the later decisions of Creviston and Lund v. Cook, 354 So.2d 940 (Fla. 1DCA 1978). In both Brooks and Edgerly, the Florida Supreme Court applied the discovery rule to actions (negligence and contract, respectively) other than one where the statute of limitations expressly provided for the application of the rule... ... Were there any doubt about the continued vitality of <u>Houston</u> after <u>Creviston</u>, such doubt was set to rest in Lund v. Cook, 354 So.2d 940 (Fla. 1DCA 1978), by the very same court which decided Houston.

The First District further implicitly proclaimed the triumph

of <u>Creviston</u> over <u>Houston</u> in <u>Branford State Bank v. Hackney Tractor</u> <u>Company</u>, 455 So.2d 541 (Fla. 1DCA 1984). In <u>Branford</u>, the court relied on <u>Lund</u> and <u>Creviston</u>, without mentioning its own <u>Houston</u> decision. The reasonable discovery rule, then, is and has been the law, without dispute for many years.

The case relied upon by Petitioners and the trial court for the dismissal of the complaint, <u>Gallizzi v. Williams</u>, 218 So.2d 499 (Fla. 2DCA 1969), lacking in reason, analysis or logic, is no longer even relied on by the court that decided it. That court, in <u>Keller v. Reed</u>, 603 So.2d 717 (Fla. 2DCA 1992), held that the reasonable discovery rule applies in a negligence action. As authority, the Second District cited this case, <u>Flanagan v. Wagner</u>, <u>Nugent</u>, 594 So.2d 776 (Fla. 4DCA 1992), along with <u>Lund</u> and <u>Senfield</u>, rather than <u>Gallizzi</u>.

Next (PB 8), Petitioners argue that <u>Creviston</u> should not apply because, supposedly by its own terms, its holding is "limited solely to the matter of the commencement of the running of the three years statute of limitations in the factual posture of this case." This identical tactic, of taking the quoted portion of <u>Creviston</u> out of context and misapplying it to avoid its result in a defamation claim was rejected in the unpublished opinion of the United States 11th Circuit Court of Appeals, <u>Caster v. Hennessey</u><sup>2</sup>:

In <u>Caster</u>, the 11th Circuit Court of Appeals analyzing and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>On appeal from the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, Case No. 86-5572, D.C. Docket No.82-8533, Decided November 23, 1987. The Opinion is attached to all copies of Respondent's Answer Brief. Although it is unpublished and not of official precedential value, its reasoning is compelling and instructive.

Appellees' position is unfounded as they have taken this language out of context, because it appears at the end of a paragraph in which the court discusses its concerns that the decision should not preclude factual questions as to the discoverability of defects prior to injury. Likewise, the court was emphasizing that the decision is not intended to limit the relevant inquiries into various defenses which might affect the discoverability issue...When read in context, this language does not curtail the court's discussion of the blameless ignorance doctrine. Opinion at page 9.

#### III

Petitioners' final argument is that "Defamation is <u>not</u> concerned with the plaintiff's own humiliation..." (PB 8,9) and that since the injury is to a plaintiff's reputation, the cause of action is complete upon publication. This argument begs the question that has been addressed throughout. The cause of action accrues and the running of the statute of limitation begins, upon actual or constructive discovery, not publication. <u>Lund</u> at 942. Further, defamation is clearly concerned with plaintiff's humiliation. Humiliation, embarrassment and mental anguish are among the first elements of damage a jury is instructed to consider in a defamation case. <u>Florida Standard Jury Instructions, MI 4.4a</u>.

If one were to accept Petitioners' argument, a victim of

applying Florida law, held that the cause of action for defamation accrues and the statute of limitations begins to run, when the plaintiff knew or should have discovered the fact of defamation. The <u>Caster</u> court considered and expressly rejected <u>Gallizzi</u>. It relied on <u>Creviston</u> and <u>City of Miami v. Brooks</u> as the settled, established law in Florida. In fact, the <u>Caster</u> court declined to certify the issue to this Court, finding (at page 9 of its opinion) that "there is adequate precedent to determine that Florida has adopted a discovery rule."

defamation would have no right of action for the humiliation and mental anguish he suffers upon discovery, because, unknown to him, his reputation had been damaged two years earlier, when publication was made. Such a result is contrary to reason, logic and law.

In discussing cases from other jurisdictions (PB 10,11), Petitioners cite a New Jersey case, Lawrence v. Bauer Publishing and Printing Ltd., 396 A.2d 569 (1979), for the proposition that the discovery rule does not apply. Petitioners quote from a concurring opinion, not the majority opinion. Even so, contrary to the case at bar, that case was decided based on a New Jersey statute which specifically and expressly mandated that an action for libel be brought "within one year of publication." Since the Florida statute provides no such directive, the case is not persuasive. Indeed, the concurring opinion in Lawrence reflects that the discovery rule was preferable and would better serve the interests of justice, but that the court was precluded from applying the discovery rule by the express dictates of the particular statute.

Petitioners' attempt to then tie the <u>Lawrence</u> analysis to Florida Statute 770.07 (PB 11) again overlooks the fact that F.S. 770.07 does not apply to non-media defendants such as the Petitioners and that Florida does not have a statute of limitation that expressly prohibits application of the discovery rule.

# CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing authority and analysis, it is clear that the time of commencement of the running of the statute of limitations applicable to an action for defamation should not be changed. It should continue to commence when the plaintiff learns of or, in the exercise of reasonable diligence, should have learned of the defamation. Thus, the opinion of the Fourth District should be **AFFIRMED**.